THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

DEC 31 2015

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

SC Court of Appeals

L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2015-000789

Betsy L. Spriggs,

Respondent,

v.

H. Wesley Kirkland, as Personal Representative of  
the Estate of James Walker,

Appellant.

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

James B. Lybrand  
McDonald, McKenzie, Rubin,  
Miller and Lybrand, L.L.P.  
Post Office Box 58  
Columbia, South Carolina 29202  
(803) 252-0500  
Attorneys for Appellant

L. Lisa McPherson  
Melissa G. Mosier  
McWhirter, Bellinger & Associates  
119 East Main Street  
Lexington, SC 29072  
(803) 252-5523

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING RESPONDENT'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL BASED UPON THE JURY ASKING QUESTIONS RELATED TO MATTERS ABOUT WHICH THEY WERE INSTRUCTED NOT TO CONSIDER AND ON THE BREVITY OF DELIBERATIONS?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises from an automobile accident that occurred on February 4, 2008, in Richland County, South Carolina. The Respondent was driving a vehicle immediately in front of a car being operated by the Appellant. The Appellant struck Respondent's vehicle in the rear.

A Summons and Complaint was filed on November 8, 2010, alleging that Appellant was negligent in causing the accident and seeking to recover actual and punitive damages for Respondent's alleged personal injuries. Appellant filed and timely served an Answer. On October 27, 2011, Appellant's decedent died from unrelated causes, and H. Wesley Kirkland, Jr. was appointed as Personal Representative of Appellant's Estate. On March 4, 2013 the court issued an Order changing the caption to reflect the proper parties.

The case proceeded to a jury trial which began on September 9, 2013. On September 12, 2013, the jury began deliberations. After commencing its deliberations, the jury sent a written note to the trial judge containing five (5) questions. The trial judge brought the jury back into the courtroom and instructed the jury that its verdict must be based only on the evidence and testimony presented. The trial judge further instructed the jury that they were not to consider any of the issues raised by their questions. The jury was sent back to deliberate. Subsequently, the jury returned a verdict in favor of Appellant. The trial court allowed ten (10) days for the parties to file post-trial motions.

On or about September 13, 2013, Respondent filed and served her Motion for New Trial Absolute. The trial judge held a hearing on Respondent's post-trial motions on October 17, 2013. On March 16, 2015, the trial judge issued an Order granting Respondent's motion for a new trial. Appellant timely filed and served a Notice of Intent to Appeal this Order on April 15, 2015.

## ARGUMENT

### I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING RESPONDENT'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL BECAUSE THERE WAS NOTHING TO SUPPORT THE FINDING THAT THE JURY IMPROPERLY CONSIDERED MATTERS OUTSIDE THE RECORD.

“Upon review, a trial judge's order granting . . . a new trial will be upheld unless the order is wholly unsupported by the evidence, or the conclusion reached was controlled by an error of law. An appellate court's review is limited to consideration of whether evidence exists to support the trial court's order.” *Youmans v. S.C. DOT*, 380 S.C. 263, 271, 670 S.E.2d 1, 4 (S.C. Ct. App. 2008).

#### A. Granting a New Trial Based on Mere Suspicions of Juror Misconduct is an Error of Law.

“The general test for evaluating alleged juror misconduct is whether there in fact was misconduct and, if so, whether any harm resulted to the defendant as a consequence.” *State v. Smith*, 338 S.C. 66, 72, 525 S.E.2d 263, 266. (S.C. Ct. App. 1999). This Court has noted that “granting a new trial due to suspicions of deliberation quality is a flagrant deviation from premising a new trial upon the facts.” *Youmans*, 380 S.C. at 267, 670 S.E.2d at 2. Thus, a trial court must make a factual finding based upon evidence of misconduct, not merely an impression or suspicion of such behavior.

Respondent presented no evidence whatsoever to support a finding that the jury actually considered the matters contained in the five questions presented in their note. (R. p. 64). The trial record establishes that the judge properly instructed the jury that they could not base their verdict on sympathy or on other factors but that their verdict must be based solely upon the evidence and testimony presented. Moreover, the trial judge specifically told the jury that they were not to consider any of the issues indicated in their questions. (R. pp. 54-57)

The jury's verdict should be given proper weight and not set aside based solely on speculation of misconduct. "The court must respect the verdict of the jury in fact as well as in pretense or theory and must not interfere or substitute its own judgment for that of the jurors, for to do so would violate a constitutional privilege to have the fair verdict of the jury and not the fair judgment of the court." *Haselden v. A. Coast Line R. Co.*, 214 S.C. 410,434, 53 S.E.2d 60, 70 (1949).

In *S.C. State Highway Department v. Dolphin*, 275 S.C. 205, 269 S.E. 2d 329 (1980), Justice Ness and Justice Littlejohn (in dissenting with the majority in the results) provided the following guidance for trial judges, which has been adopted by our courts:

*When a trial judge grants a new trial outright, or a new trial nisi, based on the facts, he undertakes to disagree with and, in effect, repudiate the collective thinking and findings of the jury, whose basic duty it is to evaluate the evidence in every case. The judge exercises a tremendous authority. It should be exercised seldom and with much caution. The judge is not permitted to substitute his judgment for that of the jury.* 269 S.E.2d 329 at 333.

Here, there was no evidence presented to create a strong conviction of injustice. In granting the new trial, the judge erred in finding misconduct based only on speculation that the jury considered matters outside of the record. The judge supported his finding of misconduct based only upon: (i) the jury asking five questions regarding matters not in evidence (R. p. 77) and (ii) the brevity of returning a verdict. (R. p.4). However, this Court has held that brevity of deliberation alone is insufficient to support granting a new trial and that proper instructions to the jury can cure indications of misconduct based upon questions from the jury. *Youmans*, 380 S.C. at 286, 670 S.E.2d at 13.

- i. Jury misconduct cannot be inferred from the duration of a jury's deliberation.

This Court has specifically held that "[a] court cannot infer misconduct from the duration of the jury's deliberation." *Youmans*, 380 S.C. at 267, 670 S.E.2d at 2. "As a general rule, the

shortness of time taken by a jury in reaching its verdict has no effect upon the validity of the verdict.” *Id.* Moreover, “[t]he brevity of jury deliberations does not indicate by itself, improper behavior, or that the verdict was the result of error.” *Id.* Indeed,

*There is no rule of law which prescribes how long a jury should be required to deliberate before returning its verdict. Of course, the verdict should be the result of conscientious deliberation, but the fact that the verdict was returned within a few minutes does not necessarily show that the jury disregarded this duty, and is not sufficient in itself to justify a new trial.* 380 S.C. at 267, 670 S.E.2d at 2.

The South Carolina Supreme Court has also stated that “[w]hile it was unusual for the jury to arrive at its verdict in so short a time, we would not be justified in concluding therefrom that the jury acted capriciously or that it was [actuated] by passion or prejudice.” *Thomas v. Atlantic Coast Line Railroad Co.*, 221 S.C. 462, 471-72, 71 S.E.2d 403, 407 (1952).

In this case, the jury deliberated for over an hour prior to sending in the jury note. (R. pp. 54-57). After the judge instructed the jury for a second time not to consider the issues contained in the questions included in the jury note, the jury deliberated for roughly five minutes before returning a verdict. (R. pp. 58-59). This brief deliberation after the jury’s questions does not itself indicate that the jury considered any matters included in the note. Thus, it was improper for the trial judge to rely upon the length of deliberation in his finding of misconduct. The only other evidence upon which the judge based his finding of misconduct was the questions themselves, which like the length of deliberation, is not indicative of misconduct. To draw such a conclusion would be based upon pure speculation. It is impossible to know, for example, how many jurors were actually seeking the information contained in the questions. It is possible that only one or just a few jurors insisted on asking the questions. After being instructed that they could not

consider these matters, those jurors could have quickly agreed with the remainder of the jurors in reaching the verdict. Again, this analysis, like that employed by the judge, amounts to speculation.

- ii. When a trial judge properly instructs the jury as to what it may consider in reaching a verdict, a jury's note asking questions about matters which are improper for their consideration does not amount to misconduct if the trial judge correctly re-charges the jury on what matters it can and cannot consider.

In *Zeigler*, a note asking about a matter which the jury should not consider (*i.e.*, the lack of testimony by the Defendants) did not provide the trial court with proof of juror misconduct. *Zeigler*, 364 S.C. at 111, 610 S.E.2d at 868. To support the finding that there was no juror misconduct, this court noted that "the judge gave a detailed charge to the jury instructing them not to consider the fact that the defendants did not testify." *Id.* This Court then noted that "[t]he judge reiterated this principle [of law] in a charge after receipt of the jury note." *Id.*, 364 S.C. at 212, 610 S.E.2d at 868. Our Court of Appeals held that the trial court properly denied the motion for a new trial based upon the proper instructions before and after the jury's note. *Id.*