THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2010-CP-40-07858  
Appellate Case Tracking No. 2015-000789

---

RECEIVED  
DEC 18 2015  
SC Court of Appeals

Betsy L. Spriggs, ..... Respondent,

v.

H. Wesley Kirkland, Jr., as Personal Representative  
of the Estate of James Walker, ..... Appellant.

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

John S. Nichols, SC Bar # 4210  
BLUESTEIN NICHOLS  
THOMPSON & DELGADO  
Post Office Box 7965  
Columbia, South Carolina 29202  
(803) 779-7599

L. Lisa McPherson, SC Bar # 7932  
Melissa Garcia Mosier, SC Bar # 78693

## **COUNTER-STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Did the trial court abuse its discretion in granting Respondent's motion for a new trial absolute based upon a finding that the jury considered matters outside of the evidence in reaching its verdict?

## **COUNTER-STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This case arose out of an automobile collision in Richland County. On November 8, 2010, Betsy L. Spriggs (Respondent) filed suit against James Walker (Appellant)<sup>1</sup> in Richland County, South Carolina, for injuries Respondent received when the car she was driving was rear-ended by a car Appellant was driving. (R. pp.10-11) Appellant answered, admitting the wreck occurred but denying Respondent was injured. Appellant raised several other affirmative defenses. (R. pp.12-15)

Following discovery the matter was tried on September 9, 2013 through September 12, 2013. The jury returned a verdict for the defendant. (R. p.6)

On September 19, 2013, Respondent filed a motion for a new trial absolute on the grounds that (1) the verdict was based upon improper matters outside the record, and (2) the verdict was contrary to the preponderance of the evidence.

On March 16, 2015, the circuit court entered an order granting Respondent's motion for a new trial absolute. On April 15, 2015, Appellant filed and served a notice of appeal from that order.

### **FACTS**

It is undisputed that Appellant drove his car into the rear of the car being driven by Respondent. (See R. p.10, ¶ 4 alleging rear-end collision; R. p.12, ¶ 4, admitting "a very minor collision" between the vehicles and that Appellant's "vehicle collided with the rear of the Plaintiff's vehicle while Plaintiff's vehicle was stopped"). The issue at trial,

---

<sup>1</sup> On October 27, 2011, Mr. Walker died and on March 4, 2013, the circuit court entered an order appointing H. Wesley Kirkland as personal representative of Mr. Walker's estate. (R. p.2). For convenience Respondent refers to both Mr. Kirkland and Mr. Walker as "Appellant."

then, involved only the amount of damage, if any, that Respondent suffered in the wreck.

In opening statements Appellant admitted “simple negligence.” (R. p.28, ll. 17-20). However, he “did not admit liability for the accident or that he caused [Respondent] to be injured the way she claims to be injured.” (R. p.28, ll. 20-22). At trial, Appellant agreed that comparative negligence was “out the window” and the case would go to the jury only on the issue of actual damages. (R. p.29, ll. 1-8; p.30, ll. 7-13).

The trial court charged the jury that it did not “have to worry about ... negligence, because the Defendant has admitted that he was at fault. He ran into the back of the Plaintiff.” (R. p.31, ll. 1-5; ll. 16-17; p.37, ll. 6-13). The court added that the jury was concerned with two things: proximate cause and damages. (R. p.31, ll. 11-12). In closing argument, Appellant’s counsel told the jury Appellant admitted he “hit her in the rear.” (R. p.32, l. 23 - p. 297, l. 4).

Following closing arguments, the trial court instructed the jury that “a verdict in this case cannot be based upon sympathy, passion, prejudice, or emotion, or some other consideration not found in the evidence.” (R. p.49, ll. 13-16). The jury sent a note to the trial court with the following questions:

1. Where is the police report?
2. Have [Appellant’s] insurance paid for any medical bills?
3. When did [Respondent] consult an attorney?
4. Did [Respondent] receive Worker’s Comp?
5. Where is the Defendant’s paperwork?

(R. p.53, ll. 9-14). The trial court gave the jury the following response:

First of all, I start off by telling you the last thing I said to y'all, members of the jury, that a - - I charge you that a verdict in this case cannot be based upon sympathy, passion, prejudice, or emotion; or some other consideration not found in the evidence. That's very important.

Number one, the police report is not in evidence. The officer testified to what happened, what he saw, what he observed. You've got to go by his testimony and his testimony alone. Okay. Number two, lawyers in this state aren't even allowed to mention insurance. Okay. You can't consider that at all. If you go back in and even discuss or bring insurance up, you need to let me know, Madam Forelady, and I'll have to declare a mistrial. Number three, "When did Ms. Spriggs consult the lawyer?" That's not in evidence. It doesn't matter. Number four, "Did Ms. Spriggs receive Worker's Comp?" Once again, not in evidence. It doesn't matter. You can't consider it. Number five, "Where is the Defendant's paperwork?" That's the only question I have. I don't know what you mean by the Defendant's paperwork. You gotta help me out a little bit on that.

But let me ... make it easier for everybody: You've got to base your decision, ladies and gentlemen, on the testimony that you've heard from the witnesses, the exhibits that have been introduced into evidence, and what I told you the law is that applies to this case. All these questions don't have anything to do with your ability to reach a fair and impartial verdict. Okay.

You gotta base your decision on the testimony of the witnesses, the exhibits that have been introduced into evidence, and the charge I gave you; and considering the arguments of the lawyers to try to persuade you to agree with their version of the facts.

The simple question you need to answer is this: Did Mr. Walker running into the back of [Ms.] Spriggs, was that the proximate cause of her damages? Okay? You gotta be convinced by the greater weight or preponderance of the evidence.

Three things that the Plaintiff must prove: Negligence, that's conceded; two, proximate cause. They gotta prove that to you by the greater weight or preponderance of the evidence; and damages got to be proved by the greater weight or preponderance of the evidence.

In short, you gotta make your decision based on what you've heard in this courtroom and no other consideration outside of the evidence. And all these questions are, basically, outside of the evidence.

So once again, you gotta base your decision on what you've heard from the witness stand, the exhibits, the arguments of the lawyers, and the charge I gave to you.

Anything else - - for you to go back to that jury room now and start talking about the police report or Worker's Comp or insurance or when did Ms. Spriggs get a lawyer, any of these questions, it would be unfair to either side for you to do so.

Now, with that instruction - - and I want y'all to relax. It's not easy to be a juror. But you gotta go back in and make up your mind on the evidence that you've heard and the law that I gave you to guide you by in making a decision.

(R. p.54, l. 25 - p.57, l. 11). The trial court then asked the jury to retire and recommence deliberations. After the jury left the courtroom the court indicated to counsel that the questions from the jury "bother me so much." (R. p.58, ll. 21-22).

The jury returned almost immediately with a defense verdict. (R. p.58, l. 15 - p.59, l. 20). The trial court gave Respondent's counsel 10 days to file post-verdict motions, adding the motion "obviously ... should be along the lines that, gee whiz, they had to consider something they shouldn't have." (R. p.61, l. 24 - p.62, l. 2).

Respondent thereafter moved for a new trial absolute on the grounds that (1) the jury's verdict was perverse as evidenced by the questions the jury sent to the court; and (2) the verdict was contrary to the preponderance of the evidence. (R. pp.20-26). On March 16, 2015, the trial court entered an order granting Respondent's motion for new trial absolute on the ground that the jury considered matters outside the record in reaching its verdict.

This appeal follows.

## ARGUMENT

When an order granting a new trial is before the appellate court, the appellate court's review is limited to the consideration of whether evidence exists to support the trial court's order. *Folkens v. Hunt*, 300 S.C. 251, 387 S.E.2d 265 (1990); *S.C. Dep't of Highways & Pub. Transp. v. Mooneyham*, 275 S.C. 205, 269 S.E.2d 329 (1980). The grant or denial of a new trial motion rests within the discretion of the trial judge and will not be disturbed on appeal unless the trial judge's findings are wholly unsupported by the evidence or the conclusions reached are controlled by error of law. *South Carolina State Highway Dept. v. Clarkson*, 267 S.C. 121, 226 S.E.2d 696 (1976); *Creighton v. Coligny Plaza Ltd. Partnership*, 334 S.C. 96, 512 S.E.2d 510 (Ct. App. 1998).<sup>2</sup>

The trial court possesses the discretion to order a new trial absolute, and the trial court exercised its discretion in doing so in this case. The court perceived that the jury based its verdict on matters outside the record. Settled law permitted the trial court to do precisely what it did here, and the record supports the trial court's decision. This Court should affirm.

### **A. The Trial Court's Grant of a New Trial Absolute Was Not "Based on Mere Suspicions of Juror Misconduct"**

Appellant contends the trial court's grant of a new trial is based upon "mere suspicions of juror misconduct" because Respondent presented no evidence that the jury

---

<sup>2</sup> Although the trial court did not say it was granting a new trial "on the facts," that is necessarily what the court did. After seeing the trial of this case and the questions the jury posed, the trial court exercised its discretion as a thirteenth juror to grant a new trial absolute. *Toole v. Toole*, 260 S.C. 235, 195 S.E.2d 389 (1973), (noting failure to use "magic words" in new trial motion did not preclude supreme court from reviewing substance of new trial motion).

“actually considered the matters contained in the five questions presented in their note” or “to create a strong conviction of injustice.” (App. Br. pp. 3-4). Appellant first asserts the trial court supported its finding of misconduct on two things: (A) the five questions regarding matters not in evidence, and (B) the brevity of returning a verdict. (App. Br. p. 4). Appellant then contends that the decision was based upon the brevity of deliberations alone. (App. Br. p. 4). This Court should not be persuaded to reverse.

If the amount of the jury’s verdict is grossly inadequate or excessive so as to be the result of passion, caprice, prejudice, *or some other influence outside the evidence*, the trial judge must grant a new trial absolute. *James v. Horace Mann Ins. Co.*, 371 S.C. 187, 638 S.E.2d 667 (2006); *O’Neal v. Bowles*, 314 S.C. 525, 431 S.E.2d 555 (1993). The failure of the trial judge to grant a new trial absolute in this situation amounts to an abuse of discretion and on appeal the appellate court will grant a new trial absolute. *O’Neal*.

In this case, the jury expressly told the trial court that it was considering matters outside the record, including whether Respondent had received payment from the liability insurance carrier, whether Respondent had received workers’ compensation benefits, and the contents of the police officer’s report. The nature of those matters were highly inappropriate, and despite being told *not* to consider them, the trial court felt the jury disobeyed those instructions. The jury was concerned that Respondent had already been compensated in this case involving admitted negligence and despite being told not to consider those matters, the jury returned with a defense verdict in five (5) minutes. As discussed below, although the length of deliberations *alone* is insufficient to question the jury’s decision, when combined with the obvious consideration of improper factors such

as collateral sources of recovery and how quickly Respondent obtained a lawyer, the brevity of deliberation may be considered when deciding whether to set a verdict aside.

The trial court's decision to grant a new trial absolute does not lack support in the record. This Court should affirm.

**i. Juror misconduct was not “inferred from the duration of a jury’s deliberation” alone**

Appellant contends the jury’s deliberation of about five (5) minutes after being told not to consider matters contained in their questions “does not itself indicate that the jury considered any matters included in the note” asking the questions. (App. Br. p. 5).

It is true that “brevity of the jury deliberations *alone* does not suffice as a reason to set aside the verdict.” *Curtis v. Blake*, 392 S.C. 494, 504-505, 709 S.E.2d 79, 84 (Ct. App. 2011). *See also Youmans ex rel. Elmore v. S.C. Dept. of Transp.*, 380 S.C. 263, 670 S.E.2d 1 (Ct. App. 2008) (noting the trial court should not base a decision on a thirteenth juror new trial motion on the brevity of jury deliberations). However, the brevity of the jury’s deliberation in this case is telling when taken against the backdrop of the jury’s written note (*i.e.*, when the brevity of deliberations is not viewed alone).

Furthermore, while the trial court noted in its order that “[t]he jury announced that it reached a verdict for the Defense only five (5) minutes later,” (R. p.4), the trial court also specifically found and concluded that “the jury did, in fact, improperly consider matters outside the record in reaching its verdict” based on “all facts and circumstances....” (R. p.5). The court did not decide this matter on the brevity of deliberations “alone.” Suggesting otherwise requires a selective reading of the record.

Trial judges enjoy broad discretion in assessing whether juror conduct warrants a new trial absolute. *State v. Kelly*, 331 S.C. 132, 502 S.E.2d 99 (1998). This trial court found that the jury necessarily permitted improper matters outside the record to drive its verdict and (in the trial court's judgment) a new trial was required.

Appellant has not demonstrated an abuse of discretion. This Court should affirm.

**ii. The trial court properly considered the jury's note in finding the jury considered matters outside the record**

The trial court properly considered the jury's note in granting Respondent's a new trial. This Court should affirm.

Appellant contends that, under *State v. Zeigler*, this Court should reverse the trial court's discretionary grant of a new trial. 364 S.C. 94, 610 S.E.2d 859 (Ct. App. 2005). *Zeigler*, however, does not mandate reversal.

In *Zeigler*, the trial court *denied* a motion for new trial after the jury sent a note asking whether they could hear from the defendants under oath in a criminal case. This Court affirmed, holding the trial court did not abuse its discretion, particularly where the trial court denied the motion after giving a curative instruction to the jury. Here, however, the trial court, in its discretion, *granted* a new trial after finding the jury failed to follow the court's instructions not to consider matters outside the record. Appellant is asking this Court to use a case in which the Court affirmed one trial court's exercise of *its* discretion in order to *reverse* another trial court's exercise of the same discretion. Discretion implies that different results are permissible. The Court should not be persuaded by Appellant's argument but should affirm and remand the matter for a new trial absolute.

**B. Settled Case Law Supports the Trial Court's Decision**

The trial court in this case was deeply concerned about the nature of the questions the jury posed to the court. The court attempted to cure the jury's consideration of inappropriate matters but found the jury failed to follow the court's instructions. The trial court's grant of a new trial under these circumstances is in line with settled precedent.

When the jury renders a verdict in disregard of the instructions given by the trial court, it is error for the court, on motion, not to grant a new trial. *Southeastern Mobile Homes, Inc. v. Walicki*, 282 S.C. 298, 317 S.E.2d 773 (Ct. App. 1984), *citing Thompson v. Lee*, 19 S.C. 489 (1883). Thus, a trial judge has the authority to grant a new trial when he or she finds the verdict to be contrary to the evidence. *Watford v. South Carolina State Highway Dept.*, 269 S.C. 130, 236 S.E.2d 558 (1977). *See also Sullivan v. Davis*, 317 S.C. 462, 454 S.E.2d 907 (Ct. App. 1995) (trial judge erred in granting a new trial nisi additur instead of a new trial absolute where it was apparent from the verdict the jury did not follow the judge's instructions to disregard the existence of insurance).

In this case the trial court concluded that the jury permitted improper considerations to drive its verdict. Pursuant to *Walicki* and *Thompson*, it would have been error for the trial court *not* to grant a new trial once the court concluded the jury disregarded the court's instructions to consider only those matters introduced into evidence.

The Court should affirm the trial court's discretion in granting Respondent a new trial.

**CONCLUSION**

For the reasons stated this Court should affirm the trial court's order granting Respondent a new trial absolute.